
Certified Testing and Consulting Services 
3144 Venture Drive, Suite 100 
Lincoln, California 5648 Arlington, Texas 7601 1-451 I 

US. Nuclear Regulatory Commission 
Region IV, 1600 East Lamar Boulevard 

* NASNAmes Research Center, Moffett Field, CA 

2. Previous violation(s) closed. 

3. The violations(s), specifically described to you by the inspector as non-cited vjolatlons, are not being cited because they were self- 
identified, non-repetitive, and corrective action was or is being taken, and the remaining criteria in the NRC Enforcement Policy to exercise 
discretion. were satisfied. 

Non-Cited Violation(s) waslwere discussed involving the following requirement(s) and Corrective Action@). 

4. During Ihis inspection certain of your activitles, as described below and/or attached, were in violation of NRC requirements and are being 
cited. This form is a NOTICE OF VIOLATION, which may be subject to postlng in accordance with 10 CFR 19.11 

I O  CFR 150.20(a)(l)(ii) provides in part, that any person who holds a specific license From an Agreement State 
is granted an NRC general license to conduct the same activity in areas of exclusive Federal jurisdiction within 
Agreement States provided that the provisions of 10 CFR 150.20(b) have been met. 

I O  CFR 34.89(b)(2) requires that at each temporary job-site, the licensee shall maintain a copy of 10 CFR 
parts 19, 20, and 34 of NRC regulations. 

Contrary to the above, at the NASNAmes Research Center, building N234-A, a temporary job-site, although 
the licensee provided a copy of 10 CFR part 20, the licensee failed to maintain a copy of 10 CFR parts -l9 and 
34 of NRC regulations at the temporary job-site. 

The licensee committed to obtaining and to maintain a copy of 10 CFR parts 19 and 34 of NRC regulations 
from this day forward at any and every temporary job-site in Federal jurisdiction authorized under the 
provisions of 10 CFR 150.20(b). 
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I hereby stale Ihat, within 30 days, the actions described by me to the inspector will be taken to correct the violations identified. This statement of 
corrective actions is made in accordance with the requirements of 10 CFR 2.201 (corrective steps already taken, corrective steps which will be taken, 
date when full compliance wlll be achieved). I understand that no further written response to NRC will be required, unless specifically requested. 

Non-Public u Sensitive - Security-Related Public Non-Sensitive 



From: Munoz, Rick 
Sent: 
To: twoods@ctcservicesinc.com 
cc: Munoz, Rick 
Subject: 

Attachments: 

Monday, July 02, 2012 3:53 PM 

Certified Testing and Consulting Services (Inspection Report - NASNAmes Research Center 
(temporary job site)) 
SCAN 562 0-00 0. pd f 

Mr. Woods, 

As per our conversation this afternoon, I have attached a pdf file of an NRC Form 591M which documents one (1) 
violation identified by the NRC during the inspection a t  a temporary job site a t  NASA/Ames Research Center a t  Moffett 
Field, CA, which was conducted on June 27,2012. Please review the Notice, and if you agree with the statements and 
your corrective actions, please sign and date the 591M form and either return it via electronic mail (pdf) or fax a t  your 
earliest convenience. There will be no further response required from you as long as you adhere to your commitments. 
If you have any questions about the inspection or the 591 please call me a t  the telephone number listed below. 

Kindest Regards, 

****L*******t******t*~*~****************~********~********** 

The information contained in this message may be privileged and/or confidential and protected from disclosure. 
If the reader of this message is  not the intended recipient, or an employee or agent responsible for delivering 
this message to the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any dissemination, distribution or copying 
of this communication is  strictly prohibited. I f  you have received this message in error, please notify the sender 
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Note: Any views or opinions presented in this message are solely those of the author and 
do not necessarily represent those of the Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Region-IV or the 
Nuclear Materials Safety Branch-A. All e-mails are subject to monitoring and archival. 

Finally, the recipient should check this message and any attachments for the presence of viruses. The 
Nuclear Regulatory Commission accepts no liability for any damage caused by any virus transmitted by this e-mail. 
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